

ESTIMATING THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN WOMEN'S EARNINGS AND PARTNER VIOLENCE:

Evidence from the 2008-2009 Tanzania National Panel Survey

Seema Vyas, Ph.D.

Kilimanjaro Christian Medical University College Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics

This paper was commissioned by the World Bank Group to help inform a forthcoming report on women's voice, agency, and participation. It does not necessarily reflect the views and research of the World Bank Group.

Feedback and comments are welcome at: genderandagency@worldbank.org More details about the report are available at: www.worldbank.org/gender/agency



ABSTRACT

Partner violence is the most common form of violence against women and the adverse consequences for women's health have been well documented. Few studies have estimated the economic costs of partner violence in low- and middle-income countries and current evidence suggests that the cost is large. The aim of this study is to explore the relationship between women's labor market outcomes and partner violence among Tanzanian women, and to estimate the difference in women's weekly earnings between women who have been abused and women who have not. In addition, this study estimates the "lost earnings" to women because of partner violence as a share of Tanzania's GDP. Using data from the nationally representative 2008-2009 Tanzania National Panel Survey, the study uses propensity score matching methods to estimate the difference in women's earnings from formal waged work and non-agricultural self-employment—data on women's earnings from agricultural self-employment (the largest employment sector for women in Tanzania) were not collected in the survey. Findings from this study reveal that partner violence is pervasive in Tanzania and that abused women earn less than women who have never been abused, with the greatest loss of earnings experienced by women in formal waged work (compared to women in non-agricultural self-employment) and by women in urban areas (compared to women in rural areas). The estimated productivity loss associated with partner violence amounted to 1.2 percent of Tanzania's GDP, an estimate likely to be far higher if earnings from agricultural self-employment had been included.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	5
Tanzania development indicators and the status of women	6
Gender-based violence in Tanzania	8
METHODS	10
Tanzania NPS 2008-2009	10
Analysis methods	12
Variables used in the analysis	12
Independent variables/covariates:	13
Analysis sample	14
Data analysis	14
RESULTS	18
Women's socio-demographic characteristics and partner violence	18
Women and partner socio-demographic characteristics	18
Average weekly income from non-agriculture self-employment or formal waged wo	ork20
Prevalence of partner violence	20
Women's labor market outcomes and partner violence	22
Women's occupational types and partner violence	22
Women's weekly earnings and partner violence	22
Women's total weekly earnings and partner violence	23
Women's weekly earnings from self-employed non-agricultural work and partner violence	
Women's weekly earnings from formal public/private waged work and partner viole	
Women's total weekly earnings and partner violence in urban and rural areas	
Estimating the potential income loss to Tanzania GDP because of partner violence	24
DISCUSSION OF MAIN FINDINGS	25
CONCLUSION	28
REEDENCES	20

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: The author would like to acknowledge the World Bank for providing financial support to this analysis, as well as to World Bank staff, including Matthew Morton, Jeni Klugman, Lucia Hanmer, Sveinung Kiplesund, Sarah Twigg, Kathleen Beegle, and Maria Beatriz Orlando, as well as Nata Duvvury at the National University of Ireland, Galway, and Andrew Morrison at the Inter-American Development Bank, for their valuable comments and contributions.

INTRODUCTION

Violence against women is recognized as an important public health and development issue [1-2]. Violence by an intimate partner is one of the most common forms of violence against women and there exists a variety of "types" including physical violence, sexual violence, and emotional abuse. Physical violence includes acts ranging from slaps and shoves (moderate physical violence), to kicks, assaults with a weapon, and in extreme cases homicide (severe physical violence); sexual violence documents acts including unwanted sexual touching, sexual assault, forced or coerced sex, or forced participation in degrading sexual acts; and emotional abuse includes acts such as insults or threats of harm [3-4].

The adverse effects of partner violence on women's physical, sexual, and reproductive and mental health have been well documented. A small but emerging area of research is exploring the economic burden of partner violence in low and middle income countries (LMIC), in particular on the productive labor time lost. The rationale for this exploration can be explained by human capital theory that assumes all individuals contribute to a society's productivity [5]. The marginal productivity of each individual depends on their well-being so that higher well-being results in higher output in the economy. If partner violence affects women's well-being because of ill-health including depression, lack of concentration, and low self-esteem, then this in turn reduces women's productivity [6]. The extent to which partner violence interferes with women's ability to work is often measured by multiplying the monetary value of a day's productivity loss (the wage received) by the number of days off work [5, 7-8].

Early work conducted in the late 1990's in Nagpur, India, that gathered information from women on the number of days of productive and household work lost after experiencing a violent episode, found that women had to forgo, on average, seven days of paid work per incident and that men missed, on average, almost ten days of paid work after they had been violent towards their partners [9]. As a result, the lost productivity from both women and men because of partner violence equated to 759.30 R (approximately US\$18) per violent incident, and this cost rose to 974.10 R (approximately US\$23) per violent incident when including the cost of missed housework that averaged a further seven days [9]. In a recent three country study, 12.5 percent of women in Uganda reported losing time from reproductive work because of partner violence and that in 10 percent of violence incidents women lost on average 11 paid work days annually. In Bangladesh, the average value of lost work per violent incident was approximately US\$5 or 4.5 percent of the average monthly household income [10]. In a study conducted in Vietnam, of the women that reported time off work due to partner violence, the average number of days lost per violent incident was 5.5 at a cost of 382,234 VND (approximately US\$18) [7].

In addition to losing days from work, partner violence can keep women from entering into employment, thus limiting the degree to which women can earn an independent income. A study among married and cohabiting women in Santiago, Chile, and in Managua, Nicaragua, however, found mixed evidence to support this assertion [6]. In Santiago a lower, but not statistically significant, proportion of women who experienced domestic violence (defined as physical and/or sexual partner violence, or psychological abuse) were working outside the home. However, in Managua a significantly higher proportion of women who experienced partner violence worked. Despite this mixed finding, in both settings, women who experienced partner violence earned significantly less than women who did not. For example, women who experienced severe physical partner violence earned 61 percent less than women who did not in Santiago and 43 percent less in Managua [6]. Extrapolating to national levels the sample proportion of working women and the calculated average income abused women and non-abused women earned, the estimated "lost earnings" to women because of domestic violence amounted to over US\$1.56 billion (more than 2 percent of 1996 GDP) in Chile and almost US\$30 million (1.6 percent of 1996 GDP) in Nicaragua [6]. Using the same method, the lost earnings because of partner violence in Vietnam amounted to 1.78 percent of Vietnam's GDP, and a multivariate analysis that explored the association between lifetime partner violence and women's earnings found that abused women earned 35 percent less than non-abused women [7].

The cost of intimate partner violence for the economies of developing countries might, therefore, be significant. Using data from the first wave of a nationally representative panel survey—Tanzania National Panel Survey (NPS)—the aims of this study are: to model the relationship between partner violence and productivity (measured by women's weekly earnings); and to estimate the cost of partner violence to the macro economy.

Tanzania makes an interesting case study as it has high levels of gender inequality and the lives of Tanzanian women are going through immense social and economic changes with an increasing proportion of women seeking paid work. In addition, many forms of gender-based violence (GBV) exist including: partner violence; female genital cutting (FGC); and forced or early marriage [11-13].

Tanzania development indicators and the status of women

Tanzania is the largest country in the East African Community and is divided into 26 administrative regions (21 are in the mainland and five are in Zanzibar). The most recent estimates reveal the population to be 46.2 million with an annual population growth rate of 3 percent. The vast majority of

Tanzania's population (73 percent) live in rural areas, 50 percent are women, and 45 percent of the population are under the age of 15. Life expectancy is 57 years for men and 59 years for women [14].

Since 2000 Tanzania's GDP has grown at an annual rate of between 4.9 percent (2000) to 6.4 percent (2011). The GDP growth rate is attributed to increases from a number of subsectors, e.g. the service sector, construction, and manufacturing. While the contribution to GDP from the agricultural sector, which is dominated by small-scale producers of cash crops such as coffee and cotton, has declined in recent years to 28 percent, it is still important to the Tanzanian economy accounting for over 75 percent of current employment [15]. Despite this impressive growth, Tanzania still remains one of the poorest LMIC and in 2007 approximately one-third (33.4 percent) of the population were living below the basic needs poverty line, only a slight decrease from 35.6 percent in 2000. In addition, the estimated Gross National Income per capita is estimated at US\$540 (2011) [14].

The lives of women in Tanzania are going through immense social and development changes as women seek greater economic independence and become more autonomous. The proportion of female headed households has steadily increased over the years to its current level of almost one-quarter (24.4 percent) of all households [12]. However, despite this increased status and responsibility, women are still a vulnerable and marginalized group within Tanzanian society and high gender inequality exists. Tanzania has a very low gender inequality index and ranks 119 out of the 148 countries where data exists [16].²

The majority (89 percent) of women in Tanzania and economically active and the main employment sector, though declining, is agriculture where 79 percent of economically active women were working, compared to 70 percent of men (2006 estimates) [15]. Though women slightly dominate the agricultural workforce, they still own less than one-fifth of land and women's land holding size is, on average, less than one-half of men's (0.21-0.30 hectare and 0.61-0.70 hectare respectively) [17]. Women also are more likely to produce food crops such as maize that are consumed in the home, while cash crops are primarily produced and sold by men. [18].

In addition, more than twice as many men are in formal paid work than are women (9.8 percent of all employed men and 4 percent of all employed women) and men represent more than 71 percent of the

¹ The service, construction, and manufacturing sectors have each grown by an average of 8 percent per year since 2000, and they account for 48 percent, 7 percent, and 9 percent of Tanzania's GDP respectively.

² The gender inequality index measures gender disparity and is based on the following three dimensions: 1) reproductive health indicators (maternal mortality ratio and adolescent fertility rates), 2) empowerment indicators (female parliamentary representation and educational attainment) and 3) labor force participation.

formal work force. Men in formal paid work also earn, on average, more than women even when comparing earnings by occupation and by educational attainment. Women are more likely to be represented in the informal sector, e.g. self-employed trading, where their participation has steadily increased from 35 percent in 2000 to 40 percent in 2006 [15, 19]. Estimates indicate that the number of Tanzanian women entrepreneurs is in the range of 730,000 to 1.2 million (including women who count this as secondary activities to their agricultural work) [15]. Women's productive work also tends to be in addition to full workloads at home, which include fetching water and collecting firewood, and looking after elderly and sick relatives, thus forming the largest part of the unpaid economy [15, 17-18].

Gender-based violence in Tanzania

To date, five population based studies have estimated the prevalence of partner violence including the 2009 Tanzania NPS, documented in the results section, and the 2010 Tanzania Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) that provide national estimates. All studies suggest that partner violence is pervasive in Tanzania. The 2010 Tanzania DHS found that among ever married 15-49 year old women 43.6 percent had ever experienced physical and/or sexual partner violence, and this figure was 36.8 percent in the past 12 months [12]. Three studies, conducted between late 2001 and early 2003, have estimated the prevalence of partner violence in four settings: among ever partnered women, 41 percent in Dar es Salaam and 56 percent in Mbeya had experienced physical and/or sexual partner violence since the age of 15; 26 percent of currently partnered women in urban Moshi had ever experienced physical and/or sexual violence or physical threats by their current partner and this figure was 21.2 percent for past 12 month violence; and 26 percent of women reported they had been beaten by a partner, 12 percent in the past 12 month, in Meatu district [2, 20-22].

The seriousness of violence against women and girls in Tanzania has also been documented qualitatively and highlights the extent to which it has its roots in patriarchal traditions and values. For example, the studies found that men condone the beating of wives and in some cases, believe that women expect it [11, 23-25]. Violence is used by men, often within the context of men's controlling behavior, as a means to punish women's "errant or deviant" behavior; to "educate" women if they have done wrong; or to "keep women in order" [11, 24]. This qualitative research also points to other underlying causes of partner violence including: poverty; men's unemployment; women's economic dependency on men that can lead to disputes over money; marriage practices such as polygamy and bride price; and men's drunkenness [11, 24].

A feature of Tanzanian society appears to be the normality and acceptance of domestic violence against women for infractions that are considered legitimate. Figures from the 2010 Tanzania DHS

revealed that 53.5 percent of women believed that wife-beating was justified if the woman: burnt food/failed to perform household duties; argued with her partner/was disobedient; neglected the children; went out without telling her partner; was unfaithful; or refused to have sex with her partner [12]. Sex within marriage is not recognized as rape because marriage itself implies that women have already agreed and understood the expectation that wives provide sex to their husbands [11].

Other forms of GBV are pervasive in Tanzania. Fifteen percent of women have undergone FGC and 15 percent of women reported that their first sexual experience was forced [2, 12]. In a clinic-based study among women using voluntary counseling and testing services in Dar es Salaam, 8.5 percent of women reported that they had been forced to have sex or to do something sexual by someone much older at least once before the age of 12 [26].

Violence against women persists despite the legal protections that are in place: violence against a spouse is illegal pursuant to the 1971 Law of Marriage Act. In 1998 the Sexual Offenses Special Provisions Act (SOSPA) was passed, classifying rape, sexual assault and harassment, FGC, and sex trafficking as criminal offences [27]. Women in cohabiting relationships are not protected under the Law of Marriage act however, and marital rape is excluded from the SOSPA except where the couple is separated.

In addition, many women still keep silent about their experiences of partner violence. Culture and traditional pressures condition women to accept violence by preventing them from speaking out and discussing their marital lives openly. Often women are afraid of the repercussions of disclosing violence e.g. on their children and whether they would be able to keep and provide for them, and also because they have few places to go to as they are economically dependent on their partner [28]. Moreover, women are often unaware that the violence perpetrated against them is a crime, have few places to report crime and if they do have somewhere to report a crime are too ashamed to report [11, 28].

Despite the current limited support options for abused women, the government of Tanzania has identified improving the status of women, including the ending of GBV, as a national priority. Institutional reforms have been introduced where each ministry has a gender focal point. In addition, there are signs of an increased level of activity supporting GBV prevention and response efforts including GBV screening and referrals within the health service, the piloting of one-stop service centres for GBV survivors and the creation of gender desks to respond to cases of GBV in a police station [11].

METHODS

Tanzania NPS 2008-2009

Between October 2008 and September 2009 the United Republic of Tanzania National Bureau of Statistics conducted the first wave of the Tanzania NPS—a study conducted as part of the Living Standards Measurement Study. The Tanzania NPS is a nationally representative household survey that collects information on poverty, agriculture, and other key development indicators [29].

The aims of the Tanzania NPS study are: to monitor the progress towards MKUKUTA (National Strategy for Growth and Poverty Reduction in Tanzania) goals; to understand the determinants of poverty reduction; and to provide the information necessary to evaluate the impact of development policies and programs [29].

The Tanzania NPS employs a multi-stage cluster sample design. All 26 regions in Tanzania were broadly classified into its administrative zone and each zone was stratified into urban and rural. Within each stratum, clusters were sampled at random with the probability of selection proportional to their population size. In urban areas, clusters were defined by the census enumeration area, and in rural areas the cluster is the "village." In the first wave of the survey 3265 households were randomly selected.

Tanzania NPS questionnaires

The Tanzania NPS administers three core surveys: a household survey—the main survey instrument; an agricultural survey administered to all households that engaged in agricultural activities; and a community survey administered to village leaders [30]. This study uses information gathered from the household surveys that collected data on a broad range of topics including: education; health; labor; violence against women; food and non-food consumption; household asset ownership; and housing water and sanitation characteristics.

General household information was gathered from the household head or other "knowledgeable" adult [29-30]. Where possible and depending on the survey module, each household member over five or 12 years of age was interviewed directly on the following sections: education; health; labor; and food eaten outside of the household. All women aged 15-50 within a household were asked to answer the survey module on violence against women.

<u>Labor supply module</u>

The household's main respondent was initially asked about each household member's main occupation in the past 12 months. The survey then collected detailed information on labor supply from all household members aged above 12 years. Participating household members were initially asked:

- a) Did [household member] do any work of any type for pay, profit, barter, or home use during the <u>last seven days?</u> If the respondents answered No then the respondent was asked
- b) Did you have a job or own farm enterprise at which you did not work during the <u>last seven</u> days and to which you will definitely return to work?

A yes response to either question was classified as "currently working" and a no response to both questions was classified as "not working/unemployed." Working respondents were then asked a series of questions on first, whether the work they did was waged and if so their earnings, and second, whether they were involved in business or self-employed activity (other than agriculture) and if so, the net profit from this business.

Questions on waged work

- a) Did [household member] do any wage work during the last seven days? If No
- b) Did [household member] do any wage work during the last 12 months?

If a respondent reported Yes to either question he/she was asked the following:

- c) How much was [household member] last payment IF RESPONDENT HAS NOT YET BEEN PAID what payment do you expect? What period of time did this payment cover [hour; day; week; fortnight; month; quarter year; half year; year]?
- d) Does [household member] receive any payment for this work in any other form (apart from salary)? If Yes, What is the value of those payments and over what time interval [hour; day; week; fortnight; month; quarter year; half year; year]?

Questions on self-employment

- e) Did you operate any business or do any self-employed activity during the last week, other than agriculture? If No
- f) Did you operate any business or do any self-employed activity during the last 12 months other than agriculture?

If a respondent reported Yes to one question he/she was asked:

g) What was your net income (profit) from your business or businesses last week/month?

Violence against women module

The module on violence against women asked the following questions:

Has your current partner or, any partner ever....

- a) Slapped you or thrown something at you that could hurt you?
- b) Pushed you or shoved you?
- c) Hit you with his fist or with something else that could hurt you?
- d) Kicked you, dragged you, or beaten you up?
- e) Choked or burnt you on purpose?
- f) Threatened to use or actually used a gun, knife, or other weapon against you?
- g) Physically force you to have sexual intercourse when you did not want to?
- h) Did you ever have sexual intercourse you did not want because you were afraid of what he might do?

If a respondent reported that she had ever experienced any of these acts, she was then asked if it had happened in the past 12 months.

Analysis methods

This section describes the analytical approach used in this study detailing the sample, variables and the econometric methods used.

Variables used in the analysis

Dependent variable: The analysis in this study focused primarily on women's earnings from formal waged work and non-agricultural self-employment. Women's weekly earnings were estimated using information on the last payment women received from formal waged work and the net income for non-agricultural self-employment. Payment from formal waged work was divided by 52, 26, 13, 4.33

and two for respondents reporting that their last payment was for the year, half year, quarter year, month, or fortnight respectively. The number of hours worked in the last week was taken into consideration to estimate weekly earnings for respondents who reported their last payment covered an hour or a day. For respondents reporting that their last payment covered an hour, this figure was multiplied by the number of hours the respondent reported that they had worked in the previous week. For respondents who reported their income covered a day, this figure was multiplied by the number of hours the respondent reported they worked in the previous week divided by nine. For respondents who earned an income through non-agricultural self-employment and reported a net income for a month, this figure was divided by 4.33.³

This study also explored the relationship between partner violence and women's occupational type that was measured as a categorical indicator and coded as follows: not working/unemployed—0; primarily in self-employed agricultural work—1; primarily in self-employed non-agricultural work—2; and primarily in formal public/private work—3.

Independent variables/covariates:

This study explored the relationship between women's earnings and occupational type using four measures of partner violence. The first two measures were identified if a woman reported yes to ever having experienced one or more acts of physical or sexual violence—lifetime physical and/or sexual violence—and if a woman reported to having experienced one or more acts of physical or sexual violence in the 12 months to interview—current physical and/or sexual violence.

To explore whether women's earnings are more greatly affected by the severity of physical violence, two additional measures were identified. Lifetime physical (severe) and/or sexual violence was identified if a woman reported yes to ever having experienced one or more acts of severe physical (hit with fist; kicked, dragged or beaten; choked or burnt; and threatened or used a gun, knife or other weapon) or sexual violence, and current physical (severe) and/or sexual violence was identified if a woman reported she had experienced one or more of these acts in the 12 months to interview.

Additional women's socio-demographic characteristics included: age; partnership status coded married monogamous—1, married polygamous—2, cohabiting—3; years of schooling; and a binary

_

³ Income from businesses that were shared with a partner was divided by two and self-employed income also includes net profit from second businesses.

indicator of women's attitude towards the acceptability of wife-beating based on the opinion that a man has a good reason to hit his wife under certain circumstances.⁴

Household characteristics included: number of children under 15 living in the household; household socioeconomic status; and household income. Household socioeconomic status was measured by creating an index combining indicators of household durable items (radio, mobile, refrigerator, television, video, computer, stove, water-heater, car, motorbike, air-conditioning, satellite dish) with housing characteristics (main source of drinking water; type of toilet facility; main material used for outside wall, roof, and floor). Weights for the individual variables were derived using principal components analysis with the first principal component measuring household socioeconomic status. The first principal component explained 26.8 percent of the variation in the original variables. Cluster analysis was then used to divide households into five socioeconomic groups "poorest," "middle poor," "middle," "middle rich," and "richest" [31]. Household income was established by summing each household member's income from formal waged work and from non-agricultural self-employment.

The characteristics relating to the respondents partners included: age; years of schooling; occupational type coded not working/unemployed—0, primarily in self-employed agricultural work—1, primarily worked in self-employed non-agricultural—2, primarily in formal private sector work—3, and primarily in formal public sector work—4; and whether or not he consumed alcohol in the last 7 days.

Analysis sample

The analysis in this study is based on the sample of currently partnered women living in the same household as their partner that answered the module on violence against women (n=1837).5

Data analysis

All analyses were conducted using STATA version 10.0 software [32]. Population estimates were derived using the "svy" survey estimation procedures to take into account the stratified multistage sampling design [33]. The analysis between women's earnings and lifetime physical (severe) and/or sexual violence and both measures of current partner violence were restricted to the subpopulation of women who either experienced the violence measured or who had never been abused. For example, the analysis with current physical and/or sexual violence excluded women who had experienced

⁴ The following eight circumstances were: she goes out without telling him; she neglects the children; she argues with him; refuses to have sex with him; there are problems with his or her family; there are money problems; there is no food at home; other reason.

⁵ From the initial sample of 3,588 who responded to the module on VAW, 1,535 were dropped because they were not currently partnered (1,080 never married; 292 separated/divorced; 163 widowed); four were dropped because they were above the age cutoff of 50 years; and 211 were dropped because their partner was not living in the household.

physical and/or sexual violence in their lifetime but not in the past 12 months. This was done to avoid diluting the associations estimated.

Estimating the relationship between women's earnings and partner violence is challenging because of the non-randomness of both women's selection into employment (and subsequent earnings) and women's experiences of partner violence. In addition, unobservable factors that influence both women's earnings and their experience of partner violence make inferring a causal relationship difficult.

Studies that have explored the relationship between women's earnings and partner violence have used different methods. A recent study used ordinary least square approach to explore the effect of sexual violence on young adolescent women's earnings in the US using longitudinal data [34]. Morisson and Orlando (1999) used Heckman's selection models to account for the non-randomness of women's selection into employment to understand the determinants of women's earnings in Nicaragua and Chile, and Duvvury et al. (2012) used two-stage least square instrumental variable regression approach to estimate earnings on the sample of women that were in work in Vietnam [6-7]. By using an instrumental variable approach Duvvury et al. (2012) were able to address the issues of non-randomness of partner violence and unobserved heterogeneity. Finally, Morisson and Orlando (2004) used propensity score matching (PSM) methods to explore the association between partner violence and women's labor market outcomes—an approach that addresses the non-randomness of partner violence but not unobserved heterogeneity [35].

The question of interest in this study is to estimate the productivity loss (loss in women's earnings) associated with partner violence. Therefore, the PSM approach was used to estimate an unbiased difference in earnings between abused and never abused women. A two-stage least square approach could not be used because no good instrumental variable could be conceptualized in this study.

The PSM approach matches abused women with non-abused women who are as alike as possible in terms of their probability of experiencing abuse—the propensity score. The propensity scores are estimated from a set of observed characteristics (covariates) and abused and non-abused women are matched so that the distribution of these covariates among abused women is similar to the distribution of the covariates among non-abused women. By conditioning on these covariates, any difference in earnings between matched abused and non-abused women is assumed to exist as a result of partner violence—known as the conditional independence assumption. Abused and non-abused women are matched where the distributions of their respective propensity scores overlap—the area of common support. Cases where there are not common propensity scores are dropped from the analysis. An

implication of this is that the smaller the area of common support the fewer cases are able to be matched, therefore, reducing the generalizability of the findings [36-37].

Several matching estimators exist:

- Nearest Neighbor: abused women are matched to one or more non-abused women who have the closest propensity score
- Kernel: abused women are matched with a weighted sum of all non-abused women with greater weight given to non-abused women who have a closer propensity score
- Radius: abused women are matched to non-abused women whose propensity score lies within a defined proximity (calliper) to each abused woman

In this study PSM analyses were conducted for Total Tanzania and for urban and rural Tanzania separately. First each woman's probability of experiencing abuse—the propensity score—was estimated using the Probit estimator. An issue that arises in choosing covariates to determine the propensity score is that PSM will be biased if factors that determine whether or not women experienced partner violence are omitted from the Probit model. Over-parameterizing the model, however, increases the risk that abused women are not matched [37].⁶ The covariates used in this analysis were guided by a recent study on factors associated with partner violence in urban and rural Tanzania using the 2010 Tanzania DHS. The analysis drew from an ecological framework that maps out risk and protective factors theorized and found empirically to be associated with partner violence against women from different disciplinary fields e.g. sociology, psychology, and economics [38].

The Tanzania DHS study found that women's ownership of land and/or a house; acceptance towards wife beating; mother being hit by her father; and partner being sometimes or often drunk were significantly associated with increased risk of partner violence in both urban and rural areas. In addition, in urban areas women's higher age was significantly associated with reduced risk, whereas in rural areas polygamy, lower partner educational attainment, and partner not working/unemployed were significantly associated with increased risk [39]. Other covariates that are hypothesized to be associated with partner violence are higher number of children in the household and lower household socioeconomic status. Except for information on women's ownership of land or a house and women's exposure to violence in childhood, all other covariate information was available in the Tanzania NPS. Partner history of arrest was also considered as a covariate; however, a descriptive analysis of this indicator revealed very few women's partner (less than 1 percent) had ever been arrested.

⁶ A perfectly predictive model would result in all abused cases being assigned a propensity score of 1 and all non-abused cases a propensity score of 0 resulting in no possible matches.

Starting with the simplest model that included only women's age, additional covariates were added until the balancing property was satisfied—a diagnostic tool used to confirm whether similar propensity scores for abused and non-abused women have the same distribution of covariates. The final model used in all the analyses included: women's age; relationship status; years of schooling; attitudes to physical violence, number of children in the household; household socioeconomic status; partner age; partner years of schooling; partner occupational status; and partner alcohol consumption in the past week.

The results of each Probit model are shown in Annex 1 to 3. For urban and rural Tanzania combined, the findings reveal that women's higher age was significantly and positively associated with both lifetime measures of partner violence—but not with either measure of current partner violence—by virtue of older women being exposed to partner violence for longer (Annex 1). Working in the past year was significantly associated with higher lifetime and current physical and/or sexual violence. Among the consistent predictors of abuse were women's attitudes towards acceptance of partner violence, lower household socioeconomic status and partner alcohol use that were associated with higher risk of abuse, and being in a monogamous marriage and higher partner age that decreased women's risk of abuse. The number of children in the household and women's and their partners' higher years of education were not significantly associated with abuse. The Psuedo R² measure of goodness of fit and the percent correctly classified ranged between 0.067-0.081 and between 73.20 percent-85.75 percent.

In urban areas, women who were in a monogamous marriage were significantly less likely to have experienced any of the measures of partner violence (Annex 2). Women who worked in the past year and women's acceptance towards wife-beating were associated with significantly higher risk of lifetime and current physical and/or sexual violence. Higher partner years of education reduced women's risk of lifetime physical (severe) and/or sexual violence and both measures of current partner violence. Partner alcohol consumption in the previous week increased women's risk of current physical and/or sexual violence. The Psuedo R² and the percent correctly classified ranged between 0.087- 0.128 and between 79.52 percent-90.10 percent.

In rural areas women's acceptance towards wife-beating; partner alcohol consumption in the past week; and women whose partners were not working/unemployed were at significantly increased risk of abuse, while higher partner age significantly reduced women's risk of abuse (Annex 3). In addition, women's higher age increased their risk of lifetime physical (severe) and/or sexual violence. Compared to the poorest households, higher socioeconomic status households was associated with

decreased risk of abuse, and significantly so for the middle socioeconomic groups. The Psuedo R² and the percent correctly classified ranged between 0.053- 0.071and between 70.00 percent-83.21 percent.

For all models, the vast majority of cases fell within the area of common support including virtually all cases of abused women. In this study all three matching estimators were used and for the radius matching method two calliper widths were defined: r=0.001 and r=0.01. Survey weights were not used to estimate the propensity scores because the scores were used only to match abused and non-abused women, but were used to estimate population differences in weekly income [40].

RESULTS

This section presents the results and is divided into three sub-sections. First, descriptive information is presented on women's and their partners' socio-demographic characteristics and weekly incomes, and on the prevalence of partner violence. This is followed by an analysis on the relationship between women's labor market characteristic and partner violence. Finally, estimates of the macroeconomic costs of violence against women in Tanzania are presented.

Women's socio-demographic characteristics and partner violence

This sub-section presents descriptive information on the study population characteristics, men and women's average weekly earnings, and the prevalence of partner violence and help seeking behavior among the victims. The findings are presented separately for urban and rural areas. The results are based on the sub-population of women aged 15-50 who responded to the module on violence against women and who were currently married/cohabiting and living in the same household as their partner at the time of the survey.

Women and partner socio-demographic characteristics

The mean age of women was almost 32 years (Table 1) and the majority were married either monogamous (75.6 percent) or polygamous (10.2 percent). Almost one-quarter of women had never been to school and few (7.1 percent) had post primary school education. The vast majority of women (90.2 percent) worked outside the home in the last year and the most common employment sector was self-employed agriculture. Very few women, however, worked in the formal public/private sector. Thirty percent of all women had earned money from either non-agricultural self-employment or formal public/private waged work.

Almost 60 percent of women agreed with at least one of the eight reasons for it to be justifiable for a man to beat his wife. The most common reasons were if a woman neglects the children; goes out without telling him; refuses to have sex; or agues with him—approximately 40 percent agreed with

each reason. The least common reasons were if there were money or family problems—less than 5 percent for either reason.

Over half of all households were classified in the poorest household socioeconomic group and just below 10 percent were classified in the top two highest socioeconomic groups. The mean age of women's partners was just below 40 years and 13.5 percent had never been to school. Fifteen per cent of women's partners had consumed alcohol in the last week. Virtually all men had worked in the last year, most commonly in self-employed agriculture (70.2 percent) while 14.7 percent were in formal public/private work. More than half (56.9 percent) earned money from non-agricultural self-employment or formal public/private waged work.

The majority of women's socio-demographic characteristics were significantly different between urban and rural Tanzania. Compared to rural areas, women in urban areas were significantly more likely to be in a cohabiting relationship and to have higher educational attainment—on average 2.3 years more. However, urban women were significantly less likely to have worked in the last year compared to rural women—virtually all rural women had worked in the last year and predominantly in self-employed agriculture. Despite this difference, urban women were more likely to earn money from non-agricultural self-employment or formal public/private waged work compared to rural women (40.5 percent compared to 27.4 percent respectively). Rural women were significantly more likely to be in a polygamous marriage, to live in poorer socioeconomic status households and to reside in households with a higher number of children. There was no significant difference in women's mean age and attitudes to wife beating between urban and rural areas.

Almost all partner characteristics were significantly different between urban and rural areas. In urban areas, women's partners had higher educational attainment—on average 2.3 years more—and significantly more earned money from non-agricultural self-employment or formal public/private waged work—84.6 percent compared to slightly less than one-half of men in rural areas. There was no difference in men's mean age and the proportion of men who consumed alcohol in the last week between the two settings.

Average weekly income from non-agriculture self-employment or formal waged work

The average total weekly income (non-agricultural self-employment and formal waged work) among women who earned money was 18214 Tzs (\$14.10 US) (Table 2). Average weekly income from non-agricultural self-employment was slightly higher than from formal waged work (17182 Tzs (\$13.30 US) and 15920 Tzs (\$12.30 US) respectively).

The average total weekly household income (aggregated across all household members) was 62526 Tzs (\$48.30 US). While women's partners' average total weekly income was 58809 Tzs (\$45.45 US) further analysis highlighted the highly skewed nature of their earnings. The top 3 percent of male income earners reported their weekly income to be, on average, 860456 Tzs (\$665.00 US). Excluding these from the sample of men who earned money reduced the average weekly income by approximately one-third to 39,200 Tzs (\$30.30 US). A similar analysis of women's income revealed that while the top 3 percent reported they earned, on average, 41,3550 Tzs (\$320.00 US) a week, excluding these women from the sample reduced the average weekly income to 15,675 Tzs (\$12.10 US) a week—a decrease of approximately 2,500 Tzs (\$2.00 US) a week. The very high incomes reported by a small percentage of the sample may, to some extent, reflect regional inequality as 58 percent of the top male income earners and 75 percent of the top female income earners lived in Dar es Salaam—Tanzania's commercial centre.

Women who earned money from non-agricultural self-employment or formal waged work contributed slightly less than half of the total weekly household income (47.84 percent *std. err. 1.58*) and in households where both women and their partners earned an income (23.1 percent of all households), women's earnings were, on average, 143 percent higher than their partners (*std. err. 29.12*).

Women's, their partners and total household weekly income were all significantly higher in urban areas compared to rural areas. Women's total weekly earnings in urban areas were, on average, more than twice as high as women's total weekly earnings in rural areas, and women's weekly earnings from formal waged work was more than four times higher.

Prevalence of partner violence

Slightly over 32 percent of women had experienced physical and/or sexual violence by an intimate partner at some time in their lives (Table 3). The prevalence of lifetime physical violence was almost the same (30.3 percent) indicating the presence of physical violence in virtually all lifetime cases of partner violence. Eleven percent had experienced sexual violence in their lifetime. The prevalence of

⁷ Average exchange rate between Oct. 31, 2008-Oct. 31, 2009 1 USD: 1,293.78 Tzs. Source www.oanda.com/currency/historical-rates/ accessed June 29, 2013

current physical and/or sexual violence was 19.1 percent with 16.0 percent reporting that they had experienced physical violence and 8.4 percent reporting that they had experienced sexual violence.

The most common act of physical violence reported, both lifetime and current, was being slapped and this was experienced by the majority of women who reported physical violence (lifetime 76.2 percent (23.1/30.3); current 66.9 percent (10.7/16.0)). When considering the prevalence of physical violence by severity, the results show that more women experienced severe physical violence than women who experienced moderate physical violence only, e.g., for current prevalence 9.8 percent of women reported they had experienced severe physical violence compared to 6.7 percent who reported they had experienced moderate physical violence only.

Partner violence was categorised into mutually exclusive "types"—physical violence only, sexual violence only, and both physical and sexual violence. Of women who had experienced physical and/or sexual violence in their lifetime, over one-quarter (27.8 percent) had experienced both physical and sexual violence. This proportion remained virtually the same when considering the distribution of the categories among women who had experienced partner violence in the past year. Almost two-thirds (65.8 percent) had experienced physical violence only in their lifetime compared with 56.0 percent of currently abused women. While 6.4 percent of abused women experienced sexual violence (but not physical violence) in their lifetime, this figure was more than double (16.6 percent) for current prevalence.

The extent to which partner violence had permanently or temporarily ceased—defined as lifetime experience of physical and/or sexual partner violence but not in the past 12 months—was also explored. Partner violence had ceased for 40.9 percent of women who had ever experienced physical and/or sexual violence. By type of partner violence the rate of permanent or temporary cessation was: 51.8 percent for women who experienced physical violence only; 21.4 percent for women who experienced sexual violence only; and 19.8 percent for women who experienced both physical and sexual violence. The rate of partner violence cessation was significantly different between physical violence only and sexual violence only (p=0.001) and between physical violence only and both physical and sexual violence (p<0.001), but there was no significant difference in the rate of partner violence cessation between sexual violence only and both physical and sexual violence (p=0.876).

Of the women who had ever experienced partner violence, 55.2 percent reported seeking help after an incident and in the vast majority of cases sought help from an informal source i.e. family or village/community or religious leaders. Less than 7 percent of women sought help either from the police, health service or NGO.

When considering urban and rural women's experiences of partner violence separately, prevalence of all measures, and most acts, of partner violence were higher for rural women. Among abused women, rural women were more likely than urban women to have sought help, though in both areas almost all women who sought help went to an informal source.

Women's labor market outcomes and partner violence

This section explores the relationship between women's occupational types and weekly earnings and partner violence. The first part presents bi-variate findings on women's occupation types and the second part explores the relationship with women's weekly earnings using PSM methods to account for the potential bias that may arise because of the non-randomness of partner violence.

Women's occupational types and partner violence

The proportion of women experiencing partner violence by different occupation types is shown in Table 4. The findings suggest that partner violence and women's self-employed work is positively linked. Prevalence of lifetime physical and/or sexual violence was highest among women who were in self-employed non-agricultural and agricultural work (35.2 percent and 33.6 percent respectively), but was lowest among women in formal public/private work (18.0 percent).

These patterns were mirrored when considering prevalence of lifetime physical (severe) physical and/or sexual violence and current partner violence. For example, almost one-fifth of women working in self-employed agriculture experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence in the past year compared with 3.8 percent of women in formal public/private work.

In both urban and rural Tanzania, partner violence was highest among women who were in non-agricultural self-employment. In urban areas prevalence of all measures of partner violence were lowest among women in formal public/private work, while in rural areas prevalence of both measures of lifetime partner violence were lowest among women who had were not working/unemployed.

Women's weekly earnings and partner violence

Tables 5-7 show women's average weekly earnings and the mean differences in earnings by abused and non-abused status. Five methods were used to calculate weekly earnings and the mean difference. The first calculates average weekly earnings and mean difference across the sample and is termed the "total sample estimate". The findings from this analysis, however, may be subject to bias if the non-randomness of partner violence creates fundamental differences between the group of women who experience abuse and the group of women who do not. To account for potential bias, PSM methods were used to calculate the remaining four estimates using the estimators described in the Methods section.

Women's total weekly earnings and partner violence

Women's average total weekly earnings were lower for abused women compared with never abused women—a finding that was significant when comparing earnings among currently abused women (Table 5). Compared to never abused women's total weekly earnings (19299 Tzs (\$14.90 US)), women who experienced current physical and/or sexual violence earned 29 percent less and women who experienced current physical (severe) and/or sexual violence earned 43 percent less. The findings from the PSM analyses yielded similar results to the total sample estimate when comparing earnings between women who experienced current physical and/or sexual violence and never abused women—earnings among the former group were between 27 percent-34 percent less. The difference in total weekly earnings were, however, slightly higher when comparing earnings between women who experienced current physical (severe) and/or sexual violence and never abused women, where earnings among this classification of abused women were between 47 percent-53 percent less.

Women's weekly earnings from self-employed non-agricultural work and partner violence

The total sample estimates revealed that women's weekly earnings from self-employed non-agricultural work were lower among currently abused women and lowest among women who experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence, however, neither finding was significant (Table 6). There were virtually no differences in earnings between women abused in their lifetime and never abused women. The PSM analysis, however, yielded significantly different results when comparing weekly earnings between currently abused and never abused women. Among women who experienced current physical and/or sexual violence, earnings were between 29 percent-31 percent less, and the percent difference increased to between 44 percent-48 percent less among women who experienced current physical (severe) and/or sexual violence. In addition, while not yielding significant associations, the PSM estimators resulted in substantially greater differences in earnings between women who had been abused in their lifetime and never abused women.

Women's weekly earnings from formal public/private waged work and partner violence

Women's weekly earnings (total sample estimate) from formal public/private work were lowest among women who experienced lifetime and current physical (severe) and/or sexual violence—earnings for both groups were significantly lower than that for never abused women (Table 7). The PSM analysis corroborated the total sample estimates revealing that the greatest differences in earnings were among women who experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence. Earnings among women who experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence (both lifetime and current) were between 57 percent-61 percent lower than never abused women—a reduction that is similar to the total sample estimate. Earnings among women who experienced lifetime physical and/or sexual

violence were 41 percent lower (66 percent lower if considering the radius matching estimator with calliper width of r=0.001) than never abused women, and earnings among women who experienced current physical and/or sexual violence were 47 percent lower (73 percent less if considering the radius matching estimator with the lowest calliper) than never abused women.

Women's total weekly earnings and partner violence in urban and rural areas

In both urban and rural areas average total weekly earnings were lowest among women who experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence in the past year (Tables 8 and 9). In urban areas, considering the total sample estimate, earnings among women who experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence earned 38 percent less (lifetime abuse) and 45 percent less (current abuse) than never abused women's earnings (Table 8). The PSM estimates show earnings among women who experienced lifetime physical (severe) and/or sexual violence were between 35 percent-47 percent less, and among women who experienced current physical (severe) and/or sexual violence, earnings were 39 percent less.

In rural areas, women's incomes were higher among women who experienced either measure of lifetime violence when compared with never abused women (both total sample estimate and estimates from PSM) (Table 9). However, no differences in total weekly earnings between lifetime abused women and never abused women were statistically significant. The findings with current abuse reversed the association and earnings among currently abused women were lower, but not significantly when considering the total sample estimate. The matching estimators, however, revealed significant differences. Earnings among women who experienced current physical and/or sexual violence was 21 percent less than never abused women and, earnings were 24 percent-26 percent lower among women who experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence in the previous 12 months.

Estimating the potential income loss to Tanzania GDP because of partner violence

The results from the previous section highlights that abused women earn significantly less than never abused women even after accounting for observable characteristics that may affect women's earnings. Exploiting the national representativeness of the Tanzania NPS survey, the potential loss to Tanzania GDP, as a result of partner violence, was estimated using information on the prevalence of current physical and/or sexual violence and the mean weekly income. According to the 2010 Tanzania DHS estimate, the female population was 24,115,000 of which 10,248,875 (42.5 percent) were between the ages of 15-50. Using population estimates from the Tanzania NPS there were 2,599,115 ever partnered women in paid non-agricultural self-employment or formal work. The unadjusted mean

difference in weekly income that currently abused and non-abused women earned was 7627 Tzs (US\$5.90) and this amounted to 396,561 Tzs (US\$306.50) in a year.

Multiplying this difference in annual income by the total number of women who had experienced physical and/or sexual partner violence in the previous 12 months—538,789 (95 percent CI 451,771—625,806) yielded a potential income loss of 214 billion Tzs (179 billion Tzs—234 billion Tzs) or just over US\$165 million (US\$138 million-\$192 million). This amounted to 0.77 percent (0.65 percent—0.90 percent) of Tanzania's GDP.

An issue with the Tanzania NPS is, however, that the prevalence of partner violence is lower than that reported in the 2010 Tanzania DHS. The prevalence of past year physical and/or sexual partner violence among women who earned a cash income in the past year in the 2010 Tanzania DHS was 32.6 percent (95 CI 29.5 percent—35.8 percent) that totaled 848,166 (95 percent CI 765,775—930,558) abused women. Using this estimate, the potential income loss came to 336 billion Tzs (95 percent CI 304 billion Tzs—369 billion Tzs) or US\$260 million (95 percent CI US\$234 million-\$285 million). This amounted to 1.22 percent (1.10 percent-1.33 percent) of Tanzania's GDP.

Another way to express the potential loss of income to Tanzania's GDP is that each percentage point of partner violence costs just over 10 billion Tzs or almost US\$8 million and amounts to 0.04 percent of Tanzania's GDP.

DISCUSSION OF MAIN FINDINGS

This study has sought to explore the relationship between Tanzanian women's labor market characteristics, in particular women's earnings from formal public/private work and non-agricultural self-employment, and partner violence using the 2008-09 Tanzania NPS. Before discussing the main findings several limitations need to be highlighted. First, the prevalence of partner violence documented in the Tanzania NPS is lower than that documented in the 2010 Tanzania DHS—the only other nationally representative survey to document recent prevalence of partner violence. The reason for this difference is likely because of several factors including that some of the interviewers administering the survey, and the module on violence against women, were male; that women's partners may have been present in the household, though not present during the interview on violence; and that the structure of the survey may not have enabled a rapport to have been built between the interviewer and the respondents thus reducing the likelihood of women disclosing their experiences of partner violence [41]. Second is unobserved heterogeneity i.e. that the causal relationship between partner violence and labor market outcomes could not be established. While the Tanzania NPS collects information from the same households over time, the module on violence against women was

not administered in subsequent waves and therefore, it was not possible to assess the effect of changes in women's abuse status and employment outcomes.

Nevertheless, the first wave of the Tanzania NPS provides an important opportunity to explore the relationship between women's earnings and partner violence. A methodological approach that would have addressed the issue of unobserved heterogeneity is to use an instrumental variable. This would involve identifying a variable that is correlated with partner violence but not with women's earnings. However, for this analysis, no such variable could be conceptualized from the Tanzania NPS. This study did use PSM methods to address the issue of the non-randomness of partner violence. By matching women who are as alike as possible in terms of the characteristics that predict whether or not a woman experiences partner violence, PSM attempts to reduce this potential bias. Limitations of PSM methods are that it does not account for the fact that women who experience partner violence and women who don't may differ in unmeasured ways; the generalizability of the findings depend on the extent of common support; and it relies on large sample sizes [42-43]. In this study the size of common support was vast and included virtually all abused women. Breaking down earnings into its sectoral (formal public/private work/ non-agricultural self-employment) and regional (urban/rural) components, however, reduced the sample size. Despite these limitations, PSM is a useful evaluation tool when data are collected in a cross-sectional format.

Using the 2010 Tanzania DHS prevalence estimates on past year partner violence, the difference in earnings between abused and non-abused women amounted to 1.22 percent of Tanzania's GDP. While this is slightly lower than estimates from other studies—i.e. 1.60 percent (Nicaragua); 2.00 percent (Chile); and 1.78 percent (Vietnam) —the loss to GDP estimate found in this study is based on earnings from two sectors: formal public/private work and self-employed non-agriculture accounting for one-third of working women. Information on earnings from self-employed agriculture—the largest employment sector for women accounting for more than three-quarters of all women—was not collected in the Tanzania NPS and had they been included, it is likely that the estimate of lost earnings to GDP would have been much higher.

Consistent with other studies were the findings on the extent to which abused women's earnings were lower than never abused women's earnings. Compared to never abused women, the greatest difference in total weekly earnings were observed among women who had experienced physical (severe) and/or sexual violence in the past year—a percent decline that ranged from 43 percent (total sample estimate) to 53 percent (PSM method). This is similar to the decline severely abused women experienced in Chile (61 percent) and Nicaragua (43 percent). The productivity loss, however, appeared to be more greatly felt by women in formal public/private waged work—where severely abused women (both lifetime and current) experienced a decline in earnings of 60 percent—and by

women in urban areas—where severely abused women in the past year experienced approximately a 40 percent decline in earnings.

The prevalence of partner violence was lowest among women in formal waged work. This is in contrast to the finding that the prevalence of partner violence is highest among women in self-employed (both agricultural and non-agricultural) work—a finding that persists when stratifying by urban and rural areas. Exactly why formal public/private work is associated with the lowest prevalence of partner violence and why the highest prevalence of partner is found among self-employed women is not certain. It might be that the income stability associated with formal sector work enhances women's status within the household and is therefore, protective, whereas the irregular/seasonal nature of self-employed work may not be sufficient to strengthen women's position within the household [42].

Alternatively, some forms of self-employment may create conflict within the household or it might be that abused women need to earn money with self-employment being the most feasible option. These themes came through in a recent qualitative study among female market traders in Tanzania [44]. The study documented that some women felt their income earning work was perceived by their partner as a strategy to meet other men and that created tensions in the household. Other women who had experienced partner violence expressed they felt that they had no choice but to work and earn money to feed their families. These women spoke openly about how their violent partners were often drunk, engaged in relationships with other women and contributed very little to the household [44].

The scale of partner violence against women who are in self-employed work is a concern and should be monitored as current trends show increasing numbers of women are entering into informal trading activities. Also, development programmes aimed at improving women's, and adolescent girls, earning potential should consider the potential impact on women's risk of violence. Microfinance programs, widely implemented in LMIC, are an example of an intervention that aims to support poor households through the provision of loans, often to women to help them set up in business. Few studies, however, have evaluated its impact on women's risk of partner violence, and current evidence suggests that this effect may be positive or negative [45]. The IMAGE intervention in South Africa, that combined microfinance with gender training, halved the level of violence among program participants, and highlights that in addition to economic empowerment efforts, addressing gender norms is necessary to the ending violence against women [46].

CONCLUSION

This study has shed light on the complex relationship between women's labor market outcomes (occupational type and weekly earnings) and partner violence in Tanzania. It adds to existing evidence and confirms that the financial costs of partner violence at the individual level and to the domestic economy are substantial. The findings from this study are, however, only part of the picture and the true cost to Tanzania's GDP is likely to be much greater when considering the cost that may be associated with self-employed agricultural work, the direct cost of seeking help, and the cost of missed domestic housework because of partner violence. Greater research is also required on these aspects of costs.

REFERENCES

- 1. Krug, E.G., et al., eds. *World report on violence and health*. 2002, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- 2. Garcia-Moreno, C., et al., *Prevalence of intimate partner violence: findings from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence*. Lancet, 2006. **368**(9543): p. 1260-9.
- 3. Heise, L.L., M.C. Ellsberg, and M. Gottemoeller, *Ending violence against women*, in *Population reports*. 1999, Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, Population Information Program: Baltimore.
- 4. Heise, L.L., J. Pitanguy, and A. Germain, *Violence against women: The hidden health burden*. 1994 World Bank Washington DC.
- Guinness, L. and V. Wiseman, *Introduction to Health Economics*. Second Edition ed. Understanding Public Health, ed. P. Ros and T. Nicki. 2011: Oxford University Press.
- Morrison, A.R. and M.B. Orlando, Social and economic costs of domestic violence: Chile and Nicaragua, in Too Close to Home: Domestic Violence in the Americas, A. Morrison and L. Biehl, Editors. 1999, Inter-American Development Bank: New York.
- 7. Duvvury, N., P. Carney, and N. Huu Minh, *Estimating the costs of domestic violence against women in Viet Nam*. 2012, UN Women Viet Nam
- 8. Duvvury, N., C. Grown, and J. Redner, *Costs of Intimate Partner Violence at the Household and Community Levels*. 2004, International Center for Research on Women (ICRW).
- 9. ICRW, Domestic violence in India: A summary report of a multi-site household survey. 2000: Washington DC.
- 10. ICRW, Estimating the costs and impacts of intimate partner violence in developing countries.

 A methodological resource guide. 2009: Washington DC.
- 11. Betron, M., Gender-based violence in Tanzania: An assessment of policies, services and promising interventions. 2008.
- 12. National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) [Tanzania] and ICF Macro, *Tanzania Demographic and Health Survey 2010*. 2011, NBS and ICF Macro: Dar es Salaam. Tanzania.
- 13. UN (United Nations), *World Fertility Report 2003*. 2004, UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division: New York, NY.
- 14. World Bank. 2013 [cited 2013 1 July 2013]; Available from: data.worldbank.org/country/tanzania.
- 15. National Bureau of Statistics Tanzania, *Analytical Report for Integrated Labor Force Survey* (*ILFS*) 2006. 2007, Ministry of Planning, Economy and Empowerment.
- 16. UNDP. *Human Development Reports*. 2013 [cited 2013 30th October].

- 17. Ellis, A., et al., *Gender and economic growth in Tanzania: Creating opportunities for women.* 2007, World Bank: Washington DC.
- 18. Warner, J. and D.A. Campbell, *Supply response in an agrarian economy with non-symetric gender relations*. World Development, 2000. **28**(7): p. 1327-1340.
- 19. National Bureau of Statistics Tanzania, *Integrated Labor Force Survey 2000/01 Analytical Report.* 2001.
- 20. McCloskey, L.A., C. Williams, and U. Larsen, *Gender inequality and intimate partner violence among women in Moshi, Tanzania.* Int Fam Plan Perspect, 2005. **31**(3): p. 124-30.
- 21. Gonzalez-Brenes, M., *Domestic violence and household decision making: Evidence from East Africa*. 2004, University of California, Berkeley.
- 22. Gonzalez-Brenes, M., *Domestic Violence, Bargaining and Fertility in Rural Tanzania*. 2003, University of California: Berkeley.
- 23. McCleary-Sills, J., et al., *Help-seeking pathways and barriers for survivors of gender-based violence in Tanzania: Results from a study in Dar es Salaam, Mbeya, and Iringa Regions*. 2013, EngenderHealth/CHAMPION: Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
- 24. Sheikh-Hashim, L. and A. Gabba, *Violence against women in Dar es Salaam. A case study of three districts; Ilala, Temeke and Kinondoni.* 1992, Tanzania Media Women's Association:

 Dar es Salaam.
- 25. Laisser, R.M., et al., *Community perceptions of intimate partner violence a qualitative study from urban Tanzania*. BMC Women's Health, 2011. **11**(13).
- 26. Maman, S., et al., *HIV-Positive women report more lifetime partner violence: Findings from a voluntary counseling and testing clinic in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania*. American Journal of Public Health, 2000. **92**(8).
- 27. Sexual Offences Special Provisions Act of 1 July 1998, 1998, [United Republic of Tanzania].
- 28. Vyas, S., Assessing the implications of women's economic status on intimate partner violence in Dar es Salaam and Mbeya, Tanzania. 2012, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine: London.
- 29. National Bureau of Statistics, *Tanzania National Panel Survey Report Round 1*, 2008-2009.2010: Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
- National Bureau of Statistics, *Tanzania National Panel Survey Report-Wave 2, 2010-2011*.2012, United Republic of Tanzania: Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
- 31. Vyas, S. and L. Kumaranayake, *How to do (or not to do)... Constructing socio-economic status indices: how to use principal components analysis.* Health Policy and Planning, 2006. **21**(6): p. 459 468.
- 32. Cameron, A.C. and P.K. Trivedi, *Microeconometrics using STATA*. Revised ed. 2010, College Station: STATA Press.

- 33. Heeringa, S.G., B.T. West, and P.A. Berglund, eds. *Applied Survey Data Analysis*. Statistics in the social and behavioral sciences series, ed. Cameron Colin A, et al. 2010, Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- 34. Sabia, J., J., A. Dills, K., and J. DeSimone, *Sexual violence against women and labor market outcomes*. American Economic Review, 2013. **103**(3): p. 274-278.
- 35. Morrison, A., R. and M. Orlando, Beatriz., *The costs and impact of gender-based violence in developing countries: Methodological considerations and new evidence*. 2004.
- 36. Caliendo, M. and S. Kopeinig, *Some practical guidance for the implementation of propensity score matching*. 2005, German Institute for Economic Research: Berlin.
- 37. Khandker, S.R., G.B. Koolwal, and H.A. Samad, *Handbook on impact evaluation: Quantitative methods and practices.* 2010, Washington DC: The World Bank.
- 38. Heise, L., L., *What works to prevent partner violence? An evidence overview*. December 2011, UK Department for International Development.
- 39. Vyas, S., Factors associated with intimate partner violence in urban and rural Tanzania: Findings from the 2010 Tanzania DHS. In preparation.
- 40. Zanutto, E.L., *A comparison of propensity score and linear regression analysis of complex survey data.* Journal of Data Science, 2006. **4**: p. 67-91.
- 41. Ellsberg, M. and L. Heise, *Researching violence against women: A practical guide for researchers and activists*. 2005, World Health Organization, PATH: Washington DC.
- 42. Vyas, S. and L. Heise, *Using propensity score matching to estimate an "unbiased effect-size"* between women's employment and partner violence in Tanzania. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, Forthcoming.
- 43. Duvvury, N., et al., *Intimate partner violence: Economic costs and implications for growth and development* 2013, NUI Gallway.
- 44. Vyas, S., J. Mbwambo, and L. Heise, *The implications of women's income on household gender relations and intimate partner violence: qualitative insights from Dar es Salaam and Mbeya, Tanzania.* 2013.
- 45. Vyas, S. and C. Watts, *How does economic empowerment affect women's risk of intimate partner violence in low and middle income country?: A systematic review of published evidence*. Journal of International Development, 2009. **21**: p. 577-602.
- 46. Pronyk, P.M., et al., Effect of a structural intervention for the prevention of intimate-partner violence and HIV in rural South Africa: a cluster randomised trial. Lancet, 2006. **368**(9551): p. 1973-83.

Table 1: Women's and partners socio-demographic characteristics

		Tanzania (urban & rural)	Tanzania urban	Tanzania rural	
	Categories	N=1837	N=630	N=1207	p-value
Women's characteristics					
Age	Mean (Std. err)	31.93 (0.26)	31.60 (0.36)	32.03 (0.32)	0.36
Relationship status	Married monogamous	75.6	73.5	76.2	< 0.001
	Married polygamous	10.2	4.7	11.8	
	Cohabiting	14.2	21.8	12.0	
Education	Never been to school	24.0	5.7	29.5	< 0.001
	Some primary	13.9	10.9	14.7	
	Complete primary	55.1	64.0	52.4	
	Some secondary	3.2	7.9	1.7	
	Complete secondary or higher	3.9	11.5	1.6	
Years of schooling	Mean (Std. err)	5.14 (0.11)	6.94 (0.12)	4.60 (0.13)	< 0.001
Attitudes to wife beating	At least one reason to hit	59.3	56.0	60.3	0.134
Main type of work in last year	Self-employed agriculture	76.9	20.0	94.0	< 0.001
	Self-employed non-agriculture	10.6	36.3	2.9	
	Formal public or private	2.6	8.2	0.9	
	Not working/unemployed	9.8	35.5	2.2	
Earned income-non agricultural sel	f-employment or formal waged	30.0	40.5	26.8	< 0.001
Household characteristics					
Children	Mean (Std. err)	2.43 (0.06)	1.68 (0.07)	2.66 (0.07)	< 0.001
Household socioeconomic status	Poorest	53.5	5.9	67.7	< 0.001
	Middle poor	23.7	20.5	24.6	
	Middle	12.1	35.8	6.3	
	Middle rich	7.3	27.6	1.2	
	Richest	2.4	10.2	0.1	
Partner characteristics					
Age	Mean (Std. err)	39.21 (0.32)	38.81 (0.43)	39.32 (0.40)	0.386
Education	Never been to school	13.5	4.5	16.2	< 0.001
	Some primary	17.7	9.0	20.3	

	Complete primary	57.1	57.8	56.9	
	Some secondary	2.6	5.5	1.8	
	Complete secondary	6.7	15.9	4.0	
	Advanced/University	2.3	7.2	0.8	
Years of schooling	Mean (Std. err)	6.04 (0.10)	7.71 (0.16)	5.44 (0.11)	< 0.001
Consumed alcohol last week		15.3	15.6	15.2	0.8675
Main type of work in last year	Self-employed agriculture	70.2	16.1	86.4	< 0.001
	Self-employed non-agriculture	14.2	43.7	5.4	
	Formal public or private	14.7	38.1	7.7	
	Not worked	0.9	2.1	0.5	
Earned income-non agricultural se	elf-employment or formal waged	56.9	84.6	48.6	< 0.001

Table 2: Women's, household and partner average weekly earnings

	Tanzania (urban & rural)			Urban Tanzania			Rural Tanzania		
	Mean/ N	959	% CI	Mean/ N	959	% CI	Mean/ N	95%	CI
N Women's total weekly income Tzs	546 18214	14620	21807	243 29823	23772	35874	303 12972	8617	17328
N Women's weekly income from formal public/private waged work Tzs	215 15921	11308	20533	68 45304	26012	64596	147 10094	7152	13035
N Women's weekly income from non- agricultural self-employment Tzs	369 17182	12308	22055	188 24865	18530	31200	181 12332	5449	19214
N Total household income Tzs	1302 62526	52185	72867	579 105950	84672	127227	723 42950	31342	54557
N Total partner income Tzs	1129 58809	48128	69492	536 91675	74182	109167	593 41768	28424	55112

Table 3: Prevalence of partner violence against women

	Total Tanzania		Tanzania urban		Tanzania rural		
	Lifetime	Current	Lifetime	Current	Lifetime	Current	
	N=1837		N=630		N=1207		
Physical &/or sexual	32.4	19.1	26.3	17.2	34.2	19.7	
Physical violence	30.3	16.0	23.6	13.1	32.3	16.8	
Slapped or had something thrown	23.1	10.7	18.1	8.9	24.6	11.3	
Pushed or shoved	16.4	9.5	15.2	9.0	16.7	9.7	
Used fist	14.4	7.5	11.1	5.3	15.4	8.1	
Kicked/dragged or beaten up	10.9	5.2	6.6	2.4	12.2	6.0	
Choked/burnt on purpose	1.4	0.5	1.6	0.7	1.4	0.4	
Threatened with a weapon	2.4	1.3	2.0	0.9	2.5	1.4	
Moderate physical violence only Severe physical &/or sexual violence (may or not include moderate physical violence)	12.6 17.7	6.7 9.8	10.6 13.0	7.2 6.4	13.2 19.1	6.6 10.7	
Sexual violence	11.1	8.4	10.8	8.3	11.2	8.5	
Physically forced sex	9.6	6.8	10.0	7.6	9.4	6.5	
Afraid to say no to sex	7.7	5.3	8.2	5.7	7.5	5.2	
	<i>N</i> =507	N=298	N=132	N=85	N=375	N=213	
Violence categories (ever experienced physical &/or sexual violence)							
Physical violence only	65.8	56.0	59.0	51.9	67.3	57.1	
Sexual violence only	6.4	16.6	10.3	23.7	5.5	14.8	
Both physical and sexual violence	27.8	27.4	30.6	24.4	27.2	28.2	
Help seeking							
Any Help seeking	55.2		44.6		57.7		
Sought help from formal source	7.8		8.8		7.6		
Sought help from informal source	54.7		42.7		57.5		

Table 4: Prevalence of partner violence against women by women's occupational type in Tanzania

Tanzania (urban & rural) % (N=1185) % (N=238) % (N=90) % (N=323) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 33.6 35.2 18.0 23.6 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 22.6 26.0 14.4 18.2 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.0 21.8 5.6 12.8 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 14.9 18.8 3.8 9.5 Urban N=630 N=90 N=194 N=69 N=277 Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 25.3 33.0 12.9 23.3 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 16.7 23.8 7.9 17.0 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence* <		Self-employment Agriculture	Self-employment Non agriculture	Formal public/ private	Not working/ unemployed
Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 22.6 26.0 14.4 18.2 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.0 21.8 5.6 12.8 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 14.9 18.8 3.8 9.5 Urban N=630 N=90 N=194 N=69 N=277 Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 25.3 33.0 12.9 23.3 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 16.7 23.8 7.9 17.0 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Tanzania (urban & rural)	% (N=1185)	% (N=238)	% (N=90)	% (N=323)
Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.0 21.8 5.6 12.8 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 14.9 18.8 3.8 9.5 Urban N=630 N=90 N=194 N=69 N=277 Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 25.3 33.0 12.9 23.3 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 16.7 23.8 7.9 17.0 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence*	33.6	35.2	18.0	23.6
Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 14.9 18.8 3.8 9.5 Urban N=630 N=90 N=194 N=69 N=277 Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 25.3 33.0 12.9 23.3 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 16.7 23.8 7.9 17.0 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence	22.6	26.0	14.4	18.2
Urban N=630 N=90 N=194 N=69 N=277 Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 25.3 33.0 12.9 23.3 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 16.7 23.8 7.9 17.0 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Current physical &/or sexual violence*	20.0	21.8	5.6	12.8
Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 25.3 33.0 12.9 23.3 Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 16.7 23.8 7.9 17.0 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence	14.9	18.8	3.8	9.5
Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 16.7 23.8 7.9 17.0 Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Urban N=630	N=90	N=194	N=69	N=277
Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.1 21.7 7.0 13.2 Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence*	25.3	33.0	12.9	23.3
Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 10.1 18.1 4.5 9.2 Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence	16.7	23.8	7.9	17.0
Rural Tanzania N=1206 (N=1095) (N=44) (N=21) (N=46) Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Current physical &/or sexual violence*	20.1	21.7	7.0	13.2
Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence* 34.1 43.3 31.8 25.3	Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence	10.1	18.1	4.5	9.2
1 0	Rural Tanzania N=1206	(N=1095)	(N=44)	(N=21)	(N=46)
Lifetime physical (severa) &/or several violence 23.0 34.3 31.8 24.5	Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence*	34.1	43.3	31.8	25.3
Effecting physical (severe) ector sexual violence 25.0 54.5 51.6 24.5	Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexual violence	23.0	34.3	31.8	24.5
Current physical &/or sexual violence* 20.0 22.1 1.8 11.2	Current physical &/or sexual violence*	20.0	22.1	1.8	11.2
Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence 15.2 21.5 1.8 11.2	Current physical (severe) &/or sexual violence	15.2	21.5	1.8	11.2

^{*} Includes women who experienced moderate physical partner violence only

Table 5: Difference in abused and never abused women's total weekly earnings-Tanzania (urban & rural)

			Т	otal weekly earnings			
	N	Abused	Never abused	% difference	Mean Difference	95%	CI
Lifetime physical &/or sexual violen	ice						
Total sample estimates	191	16526	19299	-14.4	-2773	-10869	5322
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	191	16526	19294	-14.3	-2768	-10316	4780
Kernel	191	16526	19987	-17.3	-3461	-10677	3754
Radius r=0.001	134	18975	28034	-32.3	-9059	-24770	6652
Radius r=0.01	181	17171	20095	-14.6	-2924	-10779	4930
Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexu	al violence						
Total sample estimates	138	15733	19299	-18.5	-3566	-13499	6368
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	137	15746	20753	-24.1	-5007	-14944	4930
Kernel	137	15746	20357	-22.7	-4611	-14023	4800
Radius r=0.001	103	18733	15989	17.2	2744	-9867	15355
Radius r=0.01	132	16182	21061	-23.2	-4878	-14796	5039
Current physical &/or sexual violen	ce						
Total sample estimates	118	13723	19299	-28.9	-5576	-10543	-609
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	117	13706	18804	-27.1	-5098	-9703	-492
Kernel	117	13706	20791	-34.1	-7084	-11058	-3111
Radius r=0.001	86	13362	17691	-24.5	-4329	-10937	2279
Radius r=0.01	117	13706	20705	-33.8	-6999	-11050	-2948
Current physical (severe) &/or sexu	al violence						
Total sample estimates	91	11076	19299	-42.6	-8223	-12738	-3708
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	90	11042	23400	-52.8	-12358	-18602	-6114
Kernel	89	10956	20581	-46.8	-9625	-12875	-6375
Radius r=0.001	68	10483	22252	-52.9	-11769	-22259	-1279

Radius r=0.01 85 10949 20783 -47.3 -9835 -14047 -5622

Table 6: Difference in abused and never abused women's weekly earnings from formal public/private waged work-Tanzania (urban & rural)

					private waged work		
	N	Abused	Never abused	% difference	Mean Difference	95	% CI
Lifetime physical &/or sexual vi	olence						
Total sample estimates	70	10425	19167	-45.6	-8742	-16183	-1301
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	64	10884	18356	-40.7	-7473	-14859	-86
Kernel	64	10884	18506	-41.2	-7622	-13955	-1289
Radius r=0.001	33	8201	23818	-65.6	-15617	-29350	-1884
Radius r=0.01	64	10884	19679	-44.7	-8795	-18604	1014
Lifetime physical (severe) &/or s	sexual violenc	e					
Total sample estimates	54	7640	19167	-60.1	-11526	-18083	-4969
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	47	7529	18851	-60.1	-11322	-15762	-6882
Kernel	47	7529	17744	-57.6	-10215	-14551	-5878
Radius r=0.001	21	10090	16145	-37.5	-6054	-21707	9598
Radius r=0.01	45	7605	17660	-56.9	-10055	-14848	-5263
Current physical &/or sexual vic	olence						
Total sample estimates	44	10860	19167	-43.3	-8307	-17133	519
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	41	10795	19726	-45.3	-8931	-18620	758
Kernel	41	10795	20254	-46.7	-9459	-18616	-303
Radius r=0.001	21	6766	25319	-73.3	-18554	-29583	-7524
Radius r=0.01	41	10795	20300	-46.8	-9505	-18687	-323
Current physical (severe) &/or s	sexual violence	e					
Total sample estimates	37	7585	19167	-60.4	-11582	-18196	-4969
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	33	7054	16414	-57.0	-9360	-13719	-5001
Kernel	33	7054	18030	-60.9	-10976	-16614	-5337
Radius r=0.001	12	9374	14979	-37.4	-5606	-18507	7295
Radius r=0.01	30	7363	17797	-58.6	-10434	-15508	-5361

Table 7: Difference in abused and never abused women's weekly earnings from non-agricultural self-employment-Tanzania (urban & rural)

			Weekly in	ncome from self-em	ployment		
	N	Abused	Never abused	% difference	Mean Difference	95	5% CI
Lifetime physical &/or sexual violen							
Total sample estimates	138	17417	17013	2.4	404	-10500	11308
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	138	17417	19860	-12.3	-2443	-13329	884
Kernel	133	17757	20366	-12.8	-2609	-13048	7831
Radius r=0.001	87	12970	26620	-51.3	-13650	-29503	2202
Radius r=0.01	128	17660	19089	-7.5	-1429	-12374	9516
Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexua	al violence						
Total sample estimates	98	17398	17013	2.3	385	-13483	14252
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	98	17398	23387	-25.6	-5989	-20238	8259
Kernel	97	17563	20832	-15.7	-3268	-16898	10361
Radius r=0.001	66	20794	12159	71.0	8635	-11068	28337
Radius r=0.01	90	17616	23558	-25.2	-5942	-21467	9583
Current physical &/or sexual violence							
Total sample estimates	84	14210	17013	-16.5	-2804	-9140	3532
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	83	14254	16620	-14.2	-2366	-8022	3289
Kernel	83	14254	20534	-30.6	-6280	-11445	-1114
Radius r=0.001	54	10464	16509	-36.6	-6045	-14600	2509
Radius r=0.01	83	14254	20141	-29.2	-5887	-11170	-603
Current physical (severe) &/or sexua	al violence						
Total sample estimates	62	11509	17013	-32.4	-5504	-11145	137
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	61	11549	22291	-48.2	-10742	-18396	-3087
Kernel	61	11549	20782	-44.4	-9233	-13426	-5039
Radius r=0.001	42	9381	20384	-54.0	-11004	-26302	4294
Radius r=0.01	57	11445	20244	-43.5	-8799	-15599	-1999

Table 8: Difference in abused and never abused women's total weekly earnings-urban Tanzania

		Total weekly income: Urban women					
	N	Abused	Never abused	% difference	Mean Difference	95%	6 CI
Lifetime physical &/or sexual violence	ee						
Total sample estimates	63	25397	31658	-19.8	-6261	-18505	5984
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	58	24997	38313	-34.8	-13316	-25176	-1456
Kernel	58	24997	32714	-23.6	-7718	-18164	2728
Radius r=0.001	26	23227	26448	-12.2	-3220	-16688	10248
Radius r=0.01	52	25419	35490	-28.4	-10072	-21442	1299
Lifetime physical (severe) &/or sexua	al violence						
Total sample estimates	43	19617	31658	-38.0	-12041	-22981	-1101
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	42	19639	33656	-41.6	-14016	-25331	-2702
Kernel	42	19639	30168	-34.9	-10529	-19419	-1638
Radius r=0.001	15	20448	39892	-48.7	-19444	-67746	28858
Radius r=0.01	36	17369	32814	-47.1	-15445	-28370	-2519
Current physical &/or sexual violence	e						
Total sample estimates	42	27259	31658	-13.9	-4399	-18431	9633
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	42	27259	24425	11.6	2833	-10288	15954
Kernel	42	27259	30616	-11.0	-3357	-16420	9706
Radius r=0.001	21	33596	20931	60.5	12665	-13871	39201
Radius r=0.01	42	27259	31024	-12.1	-3765	-16756	9226
Current physical (severe) &/or sexua	l violence						
Total sample estimates	30	17478	31658	-44.8	-14180	-25393	-2967
Matching estimator							
Nearest Neighbour	30	17478	26764	-34.7	-9286	-22898	4325
Kernel	30	17478	28836	-39.4	-11358	-22591	-125
Radius r=0.001	21	15468	21526	-28.1	-6058	-19892	7777
Radius r=0.01	23	15280	29268	-47.8	-13988	-28265	289

Table 9: Difference in abused and never abused women's total weekly earnings-Rural Tanzania

		Total weekly income: Rural women							
	N	Abused	Never abused	% difference	Mean Difference	95%	6 CI		
Lifetime physical &/or sexual									
Total sample estimates	128	13832	12308	12.4	1524	-8051	11100		
Matching estimator									
Nearest Neighbour	127	13974	12204	14.5	1771	-7502	11044		
Kernel	127	13974	12434	12.4	1540	-7755	10835		
Radius r=0.001	58	9655	9369	3.0	285	-4106	4677		
Radius r=0.01	121	14397	12196	18.0	2200	-8124	12524		
Lifetime physical (severe) &/or	sexual								
Total sample estimates	95	14562	12308	18.3	2254	-10002	14509		
Matching estimator									
Nearest Neighbour	93	14663	11489	27.6	3174	-9242	15590		
Kernel	93	14663	11844	23.8	2819	-9615	15253		
Radius r=0.001	55	20430	13486	51.5	6944	-15579	29467		
Radius r=0.01	86	15683	12078	29.9	3605	-10187	17398		
Current physical &/or sexual v	iolence								
Total sample estimates	76	9258	12308	-24.8	-3050	-6692	592		
Matching estimator									
Nearest Neighbour	76	9258	11741	-21.2	-2484	-4962	-6		
Kernel	76	9258	11425	-19.0	-2168	-4747	411		
Radius r=0.001	40	11158	18596	-40.0	-7439	-17097	2219		
Radius r=0.01	74	9164	11503	-20.3	-2339	-4855	177		
Current physical (severe) &/or	sexual violen	ce							
Total sample estimates	61	8985	12308	-27.0	-3323	-6901	255		
Matching estimator									
Nearest Neighbour	61	8985	11813	-23.9	-2829	-5596	-61		
Kernel	60	8824	11916	-25.9	-3092	-5588	-596		
Radius r=0.001	34	8272	16145	-48.8	-7874	-18915	3167		
Radius r=0.01	55	9173	11335	-19.1	-2162	-5292	968		

Annex 1: Probit estimates of factors associated with partner violence in Tanzania (urban and rural combined)

Aimex 1. 1100it estimates of facto	*			Lifetime severe partner Current partner violence				Current severe partner		
	(N=18.		violence (N			(N=162		violence (N		
Covariate (reference category)	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value		Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value	
Rural (Urban)	1.20	0.093	1.21	0.121		0.95	0.702	1.08	0.572	
Age	1.01	0.048	1.02	0.028		1.00	0.610	1.01	0.128	
Married monogamous (Cohabiting)*	0.80	0.017	0.83	0.070		0.75	0.006	0.79	0.048	
Married polygamous (Cohabiting)*	1.20	0.184				0.99	0.927	1.04	0.846	
Educations (years)	1.01	0.450	1.00	0.818		1.02	0.212	1.00	0.752	
Does productive work	1.33	0.011	1.24	0.082		1.35	0.021	1.32	0.054	
Attitude to hit	1.11	< 0.001	1.11	< 0.001		1.09	< 0.001	1.08	0.002	
Number of children	0.98	0.358	0.99	0.583		0.98	0.480	0.99	0.594	
Middle poor (Poorest)	0.80	0.017	0.87	0.159		0.77	0.016	0.82	0.083	
Middle (Poorest)	0.86	0.226	0.95	0.723		0.75	0.047	0.82	0.209	
Middle rich (Poorest)	0.74	0.050	0.66	0.019		0.52	0.001	0.58	0.008	
Richest (Poorest)	0.59	0.015	0.59	0.036		0.55	0.018	0.52	0.026	
Partner age	0.98	0.001	0.98	< 0.001		0.98	0.003	0.98	< 0.001	
Partner education years	1.00	0.734	0.99	0.410		0.98	0.120	0.98	0.140	
Partner self-employed non-agri (agriculture)	1.33	0.015	1.25	0.090		1.26	0.087	1.37	0.032	
Partner formal public/private (agriculture)	1.22	0.076	1.24	0.080		1.26	0.077	1.30	0.061	
Partner not work/unemployed (agriculture)	1.35	0.336	1.76	0.074		1.36	0.411	1.84	0.105	
Alcohol consumption	1.53	< 0.001	1.70	< 0.001		1.56	< 0.001	1.62	< 0.001	
Psuedo R2	0.067		0.074			0.076		0.081		
Percent correctly classified	73.20		79.76			81.87		85.75		
Number Abused cases in area of common										
support	507		341			298		222		
Number of never abused cases in area of common support	1323		1327			1318		1315		

^{*} Lifetime severe partner violence was modeled with cohabiting as the covariate and married monogamous and polygamous as the reference

Annex 2: Probit estimates of factors associated with partner violence in urban Tanzania

Urban Tanzania	Lifetime j violence (Lifetime sever violence (N	-	Current partn (N=58		Current sever violence (N	-
Covariate (reference category)	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value
Age	1.01	0.409	1.02	0.289	1.00	0.883	1.00	0.763
Married monogamous (Cohabiting)	0.63	0.003	0.59	0.002	0.60	0.004	0.65	0.034
Married polygamous (Cohabiting)	1.01	0.981	0.64	0.214	0.90	0.755	0.94	0.872
Educations (years)	1.02	0.371	1.03	0.333	1.04	0.202	1.04	0.253
Does productive work	1.33	0.026	1.22	0.181	1.39	0.032	1.36	0.073
Attitude to hit	1.11	0.009	1.08	0.073	1.10	0.035	1.09	0.078
Number of children	0.96	0.315	0.97	0.588	0.99	0.854	0.96	0.502
Middle poor (Poorest)	1.10	0.765	1.31	0.449	1.37	0.375	1.47	0.338
Middle (Poorest)	1.28	0.437	1.35	0.387	1.40	0.333	1.44	0.358
Middle rich (Poorest)	1.12	0.722	0.98	0.953	0.95	0.892	1.00	0.991
Richest (Poorest)	1.03	0.948	1.07	0.868	1.19	0.679	1.11	0.825
Partner age	0.99	0.129	0.98	0.118	0.99	0.281	0.98	0.110
Partner education years	0.96	0.120	0.94	0.018	0.94	0.016	0.92	0.010
Partner self-emp non-agriculture (agriculture)	1.13	0.557	0.98	0.922	1.00	0.988	1.07	0.802
Partner formal public/private (agriculture)	1.06	0.786	0.98	0.913	1.09	0.714	1.06	0.830
Partner not working/unemp (agriculture)	0.54	0.293	0.60	0.390	0.65	0.475	0.85	0.788
Alcohol consumption	1.40	0.052	1.40	0.088	1.56	0.024	1.49	0.077
Psuedo R2	0.087		0.100		0.119		0.128	
Percent correctly classified	79.52		86.47		86.11		90.11	
Number Abused cases in area of common support	132		86		85		58	
Number of never abused cases in area of common support	487		494		489		374	

Annex 3: Probit estimates of factors associated with partner violence in rural Tanzania

Rural Tanzania		Lifetime partner violence (N=1200)		Lifetime severe partner violence (N=1080)		er violence 38)	Current severe partner violence (N=989)		
Covariate (reference category)	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value	Coefficient	p-value	
Age	1.01	0.058	1.02	0.042	1.01	0.350	1.02	0.080	
Married monogamous (Cohabiting)	0.95	0.670	0.97	0.841	0.87	0.303	0.90	0.485	
Married polygamous (Cohabiting)	1.37	0.056	1.37	0.082	1.08	0.707	1.11	0.609	
Educations (years)	1.00	0.701	1.00	0.872	1.01	0.547	0.99	0.701	
Does productive work	1.28	0.318	1.12	0.664	1.16	0.617	1.05	0.877	
Attitude to hit	1.12	< 0.001	1.12	< 0.001	1.09	0.002	1.08	0.010	
Number of children	0.99	0.660	0.99	0.749	0.98	0.537	0.99	0.852	
Middle poor (Poorest)	0.79	0.015	0.82	0.071	0.74	0.009	0.77	0.041	
Middle (Poorest)	0.76	0.087	0.85	0.366	0.58	0.009	0.67	0.064	
Middle rich (Poorest)	0.59	0.127	0.66	0.277	0.59	0.187	0.72	0.426	
Richest (Poorest)									
Partner age	0.98	0.003	0.98	< 0.001	0.98	0.003	0.97	< 0.001	
Partner education years	1.01	0.515	1.01	0.589	1.00	0.964	1.00	0.997	
Partner self-emp non-agriculture (agriculture)	1.35	0.076	1.29	0.176	1.44	0.066	1.46	0.068	
Partner formal public/private (agriculture)	1.24	0.135	1.29	0.109	1.24	0.218	1.33	0.118	
Partner not working/unemp (agriculture)	2.96	0.020	4.26	0.002	3.24	0.043	4.33	0.012	
Alcohol consumption	1.57	< 0.001	1.81	< 0.001	1.58	0.001	1.72	< 0.001	
Psuedo R2	0.053		0.071		0.063		0.066		
Percent correctly classified	70.00		77.13		79.77		83.32		
Number Abused cases in area of common support	375		255		213		164		
Number of never abused cases in area of common support	814		821		798		801		